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Business Oral History Collection
Mrs. Baird's Bakerf'f
W. Hoyt Baird
Interviewer: Dr. Floyd Jenkins

Place of Interview: Fort Worth, Texas Date: February 14, 1980

Dr. Jenkins: This is Floyd Jenkins recording for the Business Archives
Project, North Texas State University, Denton, Texas.
Today is Fewruary 14, 1980. I am interviewing Mr. W.
Hoyt Baird, chairman of the executive committee, Mrs.
Baird's Bakeries, Fort Worth, Texas. Mr. Hoyt, let's
first indicate that you have an excellent company publica-

tion here, a brief monograph called The Mrs. Baird's

Story, which sketches the history of the company, and
this will be in the Archives at North Texas. But let's
start by getting you to go back and give your own know-
ledge of the family background, how the Bairds gdffo
Texas, and kind of lead us up to getting into the bread
business. We will have you emphasize some of your own
memories of delivering bread in those early days.

Mr. Baird: Well, we moved to Texas from Tennessee in 1901. My
father and mother lived in the small towns of Trenton

and Obion, Tennessee, where my father was in the bakery
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business, what they called a 'confectionery store, which

is ice cream and milk shakes and things of that nature.
Now you don't remember any of that specifically I don't
suppose, or do you?

Yes.

Although you were very young.

Yes, I was four years old when we came from Tennessee.
Papa decided he wanted to come to Texas and see what Texas
looked like. So he came by himself to Fort Worth and
looked around, and decided that he liked what he saw here.
S0 he wrote Mama and told her to load up the kids and get
on a train and come to Texas.

Now that was about what year?

That was 1901. When we first arrived here we lived out
on East Belknap. And my father had been in the restaurant
business in Tennessee, and he really liked that better
than he did the bakery business. So shortly after we
moved here we moved out on Exchange Avenue, and he ran a
little restaurant on Exchange Avenue. We lived in what
they called Rosen Heights at that time, on the north side.
And he operated this little cafe on Exchange Avenue where
the original Fort Worth Rodeo and Stockshow took place.
That is where they used to have the rodeo every year, on
Exchange Avenue.

I didn't realize that it didn't originate right where it

is.
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The two packing plants were operating at that time, Swift
and Armour, on Exchange Avenue. Then we moved from there
to across the street from the Santa Fe Depot.

You are talking about the cafe business moved.

Yes, we moved there, too.

I see.

We moved from Rosen Heights, and we lived next door to
the Santa Fe Cafe. My dad operated the Santa Fe Cafe
Just across the street from the Santa Fe Depot.

Did you get involved in working for the cafe any?

No, not at that time.

I see.

Then we moved from there over on Daggett, and my father
opened a bakery Jjust next door to the corner of Daggett
and Jennings Avenue.

A bakery?

Yes. He operated a retall bakery. And there was a drug-

store on the corner, Dillon Drugstfde. And he operated
z

m

there at that time, and then we moved over;gﬁ'SlZ Hemp-
hill. Mama baked bread for the family once or twice a
week, and it used to be the custom in the old days,fj;*"
o
people who made cakes and pies or bread that they were
rather proud of, #F¥y would hand it over the fence to a

neighbor. And she did that, and the people liked it and

began to suggest to her that she bake some extra bread
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the next time she baked and let them buy it. She was
pretty thrifty, so she got where she would bake a few
extra loaves. And I would come home from school, she
would put it in a basket, and there would be about‘six
one~-pound loaves of bread in the basket, and she would

have a clean flour sack that she had washed, ané:she.

“wotlld Have that in the basket and she would put the bread

in and cover it up. The basket would have a 1id on it
that just turned back.

Kind of like a picnic basket that we would think of.
Yes. And T would go around in the close neighborhood,
and it didn't take very long to sell six loaves of bread.
What kind of stove did she use.

Just a regular kitchen stove. It was aritificial gas.
Tell us about that artificial gas.

Well, for quite a long time in Fort Worth that was the
gas that we used then. They called it artificial gas.
We didn't have natural gas at that time.

Where did this artificial gas come from?

I can't answer that.

It .was<a city system?

. Yes.

I see.
That was back in about, I would say 1905-1906, along in

there. And finally in 1908 she began to bake extra
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loaves of bread, and when I would get home from school
she would put it in a basket and then I would go out and
sell it. Well, she began to get calls from people saying
that they would like to have a loaf of the bread. So it
wasn't too long before we started delivering it on a
bicycle, and that way we could cover a little more terri-

tory.

Before I forget it let's go back and get your birth date.

October. 31, .1896. T

Okay. So you started delivering on the bicycle?

Yes, and it wasn't very long- before the demand just kept
growing. We had an old Phaeton buggy. It was a two-
wheeled buggy. And my dad took the body off of the
chasis and then built a wooden panel body on that. And
we had two horses. One was naméﬁNed and one was named
Nellie. We hitched Ned up to this wagon and started de-
livering on the wagon. And, of course, wecould cover

a good deal more territory than we did with the bicycle.
Now you drove the wagon?

No, I didn’t.' We hired a neighbor, a Mr. Lipps, to drive
the bread wagon for us. He was our salesman for some time
while I was in school, and then I would relieve him some
time when he was ill. And then in 1911 we moved out on
Washington, on Cactus and Washington. I think they have

changed the name of Cactus to Jefferson. Well, before we
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did that, I will go back to this 512 Hemphill, I guess.
She was baking this bread in the kitchen.

Now that is where she actually got into the business, was
on Hemphill?

Yes. That was 1908. And we had a little house out in

the backyard, and we remodeled that, refurbished it, and

,//‘\_’,-'w?)r/"-,_/"

we bought anotherié%eﬁe from the old Metropolitan Hotel.
And it was called the sand oven. It was a metal oven,

and it had walls and sand in between the walls to hold

the heat. We could bake about forty loaves of bread a

day on that. And so we got this wagon and started deliver-
ing bread in the wagon. I think she bought this oven from
the Metropolitan Hotel for $75, and paid $25 cash and

paid the rest of it out ipﬂbread and rolls.

Is that right? fWéjﬁéreﬁﬁ;king principally the same loaf
of bread and rolls? What were the products at that early
time?

Just bread.

But you said rolls? You would make rolls?

Later.

Oh, . . . So you started off simply making one loaf of
bread?

Yes. That'sright. Then in 1911 we moved out to Cactus
and Washington, and tizEwe:-we had a little house in the

backyard there so we took that and fixed it up and built
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a little brick oven that opened into this iIs:iigke room,
and the brick oven itself was outside. The door to the
oven opened to the inside. And you used what you call
the "peel" to put your bread into the oven. You have
to mix your dough first, and then let it proof.

Proof. Which means?

Well, when you mix you have .just got just a solid piece
of dough. In order for it to have life in it you have
got to proof it, let it relax. Then you punch it down.
Okay, all right.

And then you let it proof again.

Well, proof would be kind of rising, then.

That's right.

Okay.

Then you take it and cut it into pieces of dough for the
size loaf of bread you are going to make, which at that
time was a pound loaf of bread. And then you have to

roll it up and leave it set on the table and let it
proof again. And then after so many minutes, you take
it and form it into the loaf of bread. And then after
you form it into the loaf of bread you have to proof
again, rise again.

Until it is proofing how many times?

Well, the dough is proofed once. Then you punch it and

let it come back. And then you scale it off to make the



one pound loafé of bread.

Jenkins: Okay.

Baird: And then you roll that to what we call rounding. You
take two pieces of dough and round them with your hands.

Jenkins: Oh, okay.

Baird: And then you line them up on the table and let them proof,
and when they get light and fluffy, then you make them
into a loaf of bread by hand. And then you place them
in a pan, and they have to proof again, because each time
you take the gas out of the dough by working it, and

if you didn't do that, why, your loaf of bread would be

heavy.

Jenkins: Now the peel oven, tell us what makes it called a peel
oven.

Baird: Well, a peel is a long piece of board that has a tongue

on the end of it.

Jenkins: Yes, and you slide the bread in and out.

Baird: You put the @6uﬁd of bread on the peel and slide it in
the oven. And let it bake, and then you run the peel
in and take the bread out of the oven.

Jenkins: Okay. Let's pause and go back just a minute. You said
your dad had run a bakery himself.

Baird: Yes. He had this bakery on Jennings Avenue and Balion.
He sold that and bought a restaurant downtown.

Jenkins: Was he baking or did he Just own that bakery.
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He owned it and did the baking himself.

50 he was doing some baking.

Yes, that was before we moved out on Washington. That
was while we were living on 512 Hemphill.

5o that actually did precede your mother's selling bread?

Yes.

.0h, T see.. Did she work in that bakery? "~

No, she was raising a family.

How big a family?

In the family in a few years after we came here there

were eight of us, four boys and four girls.

Kind of reel those names off, if you would.

T will name them in order. Bess, and then Dewey, and Hoyt,
Rarawld

and then Relldims, #Horine, Marjorie, C. B., and Ruth.

I believe that adds up to eight.

Did all of those children live to be grown?

Yes.

Didn't losg any of them then.

No.

Back in those days a lot of infants died.

Well, we had two brothers that died in Tennessee before

we left there.

Oh, I see. As infants?

Well, no, Erﬁén was about ten years old and Omar was an

infant.
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So your mother had how many children?
Ten children.

And eight of them were in Texas.

Yes. Well, four of us were born in Tennessee, and then
the other four were born in Fort Worth, after we came to
Texas.

But you had eight Texans, anyway. Two died in Tennessee
before you came. I was asking you about the peel oven
and you had explained that before I interrupted you
there.

Before we moved out on Washington, my father sold this
bakery on Jennings Avenue, and he bought a little res-
g%urant dowvntown on Main Street. B8nd he called it Little
Chicago and served meals down there, breakfast, lunch and
dinner. And you could buy a full meal for 15¢.

A plate lunch.

That is hard to believe.

Yes, it is.

That was in about 1908-1909, something like that. And

Dewey, my oldest brother, used to go down and help him.

b

Andﬁthé youngsters were al#-in school, and then when we
moved out on Washington I started driving the horse and
wagon.

You then became the driver.

Yes.
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And this was about what year?

Well, this was in 1911.

There are mentioned in the Mrs. Baird's Story some inci-
dents of the horse and the customers and some of the color-
ful things that happened on the route. Can you relate a
few of those to us?

Ned was getting along in years, but when I would make my
rounds I had a great big bell on the dashboard of the wagon.
And T would take an S wrench when I stopped out in front

of the house in this block and hit that bell two or three
times, and the customers that I had there in that neighbor-
hood would come out to the wagon. And Ned would take a
little grass while I was waiting on the customers. Some

of the neighbors once in a while, some-cf-therwomen, would
complain about him eating the grass, and I would have to go
around and check his head up. And then when I would get
ready to go, Ned doesn't want to go. (Laughter) I'd have

to take the check rein off in order to get him to leave.

He had a habit of, when I'd close the doors -s2&m, he'd take
off and I'd catch him on the run. I'd hit the hub with my
left foot and grab the handle on the dash board and pull
myself into the cab and we'd be on our way to the next stop.
And did he know the stops?

Yep. Yeah, he sure did. He knew the route about as well

as I did.
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Jenkins: Wow, there was something mentioned in there about selling
coupons to customers.

Bairag: Oh, we sold tickets. Round rickets about the size of a
dollar, cardboard tickets. We sold twenty-four to the
dollar. Bread was a nickel a loaf. So if you'd buy a dollar's

worth of tickets you'd get four loaves of bread extra.

Jenkins: Now did you have a goodly percentage of your customers who
did that?

Baird: Yeah. Quite a few.

Jenkins: But a lot of them just paid you daily, I suppose?

Baird: Yeah, I had a few charge accounts, I kept in a notebook:aiotng.

I'd keep track of these few charge accounts that I had.

Jenkins: How much bookkeeping was involved in those days?

Baird: Not very much. Very little.

Jenkins: How did you figure out whether you made any profit or not?
Baird: As well as I remember we just went by whether we had a little

more money in the bank at the end of the month. (Laughter)
We didn't even inventory. We were pretty busy making bread.

Of course at this time, now, we started making cakes and

pies.
Jenkins: Oh? What got you into that?
Baird: Well, the business kept growing so fast that we got this

landlord out on Washington and Cactus to build us a building
on the back of the lot. We had a deep lot and the other

®uildings we were using got to be too small. So he built us
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a new building out there and built a sales room on the
front of it. So Mama and Dewey were doing the baking,
and she'd work in the shop until about 3:00 in the after-
noon and then she'd go in and take a bath and change clothes
and come back out and wait on the customers.
Let's be sure to get her name recorded here. The original
Mrs. Baird.
Her name was, before she married, Ninnie Lilla Harrison.
Andvfpgwygsmyggyn in the business as Mrs. Ninnie L. Baird.
She was working in the shop with Dewey at that time and
when they got this new building, then our retail business
at the bakery began to grow. And then we started making a
wide variety of bakery products, everything from cream puffs
to doughnuts to cup cakes and cinnamon rolls, pies, Jjust a
full line. And I carried a full line of bakery products
on the route, on the wagon. And we operated that wagon re-
tail route, I covered quite a bit of Ft. Worth from about
T:00 in the morning to about T7:00 at night.
Give us some idea of what kind of area you were covering
at that time.
I had everything o%‘tye south side, and that goes from what
is now Vickery wa;i:alled Railroad Avenue, and that would
be the north side, that would be the north boundary, not

on the north side, the north is north of the courthouse.

But all the way from Railroad Avenue to what we called the
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Boét Works, and that' out on Hiekory. The Boat: Works,

Il

" known in those days, is now Texas Steel Company.

Now why was it the Boat Works?
I don't know. I guess making bodts. (Laughter)

Oh, okay. Makes sense doesn't it?

Phat-was-north--and-south-and-then, ef:course, the west

side of Ft. Worth was as far as maybe Fifth Avenue, some-
thing like that. But it didn't go too far west. Most of
Arlington Heights, at that time was just empty space. And
we didn't go any further east than South Main. People

were living east of South Main, but that was as far as the
territory we covered.

Now were you the only delivery man at that time?

I was the only salesman, yeah.

Okay, so that was the entire route at that time.

Yeah.

Let's remember we're stopping here with your covering the
route and let me go back and get a little bit of background on
Mrs. Ninnie Baird her self. Some ofAyour recollections of
her as mother, and as beginner of the business. Let's get
some insights into her that we may not have in some of this
literature. And some of her background, if you know any

of it.

Well, a lot of times while she was baking bread she was also

looking after youngsters.
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Eight of them.

And she was a good mother. She was a fine woman. She
was a good businesswoman and she was a great mother.

I notice this tribute given to her by the Texas Legis-
lature?®

Texas Senate.

Mentioning some of this background, and so I'd kind of
like for you to elaborate a bit on that, if you would.
Well, she was a hard worker, and she was good, level-
headed and got along with people well.

Did she get involved much in the sales at all, or did
she strictly stay there and do the production?

Well, occasionally she rode with me on the route. You
know, Just to visit with the customers and justito<kind
of~. . . she was just interested in seeing, yem=kiow,
how people reacted to things.

What kind of boss was she?

Well, she was pretty persuasive. (Laughter)

I see.

Oh, she expected you to take care of your Jjob and do
your job right. She believed in making something good
to eat. She worked hard at it and she was very particu-
lar about her ingredients that went into the breads and
cakes at that time. She believed in quality and she

believed in cleanliness and she was a good Christian
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woman.

Jenkins: Did she get involved much in the church and other acti-
vities?

Baird: No, she didn't have time.

Jenkins: I'11 bet she didn't.

Baird: She was pretty busy.

Jenkins: In addition to baking for the business, did she cook

three meals a day at home?
Baird: Well, yeah. We had, s€&, the four sisters and Bess,

the oldest sister, was working downtown to help support

the family.
Jenkins: I see.
Baird: And then the other sisters, they all had to do their

share of the housework.

Jenkins: I see, they were trained as women were trained then.

Baird: Yeah, yeah. While some of the youngsters were rather
small, young, she hired a woman to help her look after
the youngsters. While we lived on Hemphill. And then
after we moved out on Washington the sisters were all old
enough to help, we didn't have to hire any help. Mama
was working out in the bakery then, in the shop, and

the girls took care of the house pretty well.

Jenkins: And Mrs. Ninnie Baird stayed active in the business for
how long?
Baird: She stayed active in the business, I believe she retired

in '59.
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Oh, so she was active many years.
She died in '61. Her health began to get bad.
At what point did she stop baking bread personally?
How did that develop?
Well, we operated on Washington until 1919, and in 1918
I went in the army, World War I. At that time é%iﬁﬁﬁfg)
a brother younger than I am, came into the shop and was
helping Mama and Dewey with the baking. And so we had
a meeting to decide what we were going to do with this
retail route. It was a little hard to hire somebody
to take care of that. And we made the decision to go
into the wholesale business and then Jjust operate retail
at the shop. We had an ice man named Charlie Loﬁéggé’éffky
that delivered ice to us every day, so we hired him as
our bread salesman and I left and went into the army.
We made arrangements with Harry Adams, who was manager
of the Sandegard Stores at that time. Customer-wise we
had threo wholesale customers; Sandegard down on Tenth
and Houston; and had two telephone exchanges at that
time, the Lamar exchange downtown on Throckmorton and

L VI S
Tenth, and: Roadv1lle Exchange on Radn&lle anduJennlngs
Avenue. About 1917 I got this Ford. I took on these
three wholesale accounts. I would come in from the
retail, house-to-house delivery, it was about eleven

o'clock, and load up for the three wholesale stops.
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Jenkins: Were you still using horse-drawn?

Baird: No, this was when I had a Ford.

Jenkins: About when did you convert from horse-drawn to the
Ford?

Baird: About 1917. I could make those three wholesale stops

and then get back on the retail route after I got through
with that. I didn't even stop for lunch, I'd just eat

a pie or something on the route. And that would go on

until five. or . six-o-'cloek.

Jenkins: T was working towards when Mrs. Baird quit being the
baker.
Baird; Well, after I got back out of the army January 1, 1919,

we had established this wholesale business and the only
retail business we had was at the bakery, at the shop.

Jenkins: Oh, people came in. Okay, no more delivery then.

Baird: Yeah; I've seen them lined up for two blocks at l:30,
5:00 in the afternoon waiting for the bread to come out.
We were selling bread faster than we could make it.

Jenkins: And it was still a nickel?

Baird: Yeah, “gesh. That was right after I got back out of the
army and we decided we'd build our own building. Up to
this time we had just rented. So we bought a lot on
Sixth Avenue and Terrell and we built a brick building
and as I remember it was about 30 feet wide and about 70
feet long and we bought a peel oven called Petersén Oven.

And I think we spent all the money we had saved buying
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that lot and building that little brick building.

Now was this the first move away from home?

Yeah. This was the first time we owned our own
business. :Our=owii building. And we bought this oven
on credit from the Peterson Oven Company.

This one was new, 1 guess.

“Yeah, and this would bake about 400 to L50 loaves of

bread at a time. And then, you see, when I left and
went in the army, Sandeguard had built about fifteen
little stores scattered over town. The first chain
store operation, I guess, grocery store operation in
Ft. Worth.

Any of that group left?

No. They carried the name Sandeg®ard. And then Turner
and Ding%éélso had a group of stores. ©Now they still —~—
operate a store on Seventh Aﬁéﬁue, Fort Worth.

Really?

Yes. The Ding%gs are all dead, and a fellow by the

name of Lloyd Halloran still runs that store. They had
ten or twelve stores scattered around town, but their
main store was downtown on Houston Street, upper Houston
Street, and Sandeguard was on Tenth and Houston. And
when we decided to put on this wholesale route we went
and talked to Mr. Adams, who was general manager for

Mr. Sandegiard and asked him if he would be interested
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in taking our bread production and selling it through
his stores. And we had been selling him downtown for
a year or so, and he knew what the product would do,

and he readily took it on. So we took care of our -

production capacity on this Waghington: Baker, Washington

Street Bakery, through his stores.

Jenkins: He took up most of the capacity then.

Baird: Yes, and what we had left we sold retail at the store.

Jenkins: Were you still producing just one kind of bread at that
time?

Baird: No. Bread and cakes, pies, rolls. A full line of

bakery products.
Jenkins: By then you really were full line.

Baird: We were just putting bread in the stores except in Fide

Ay
Yy,

downtown store#. We put cakes and everything in down-
town stores. We had kind of a delicatessen, and a lot

of people came and ate their lunch there in the store.

Jenkins: Your mother was still the chiefl baker?

Baird: Dewey was the chief baker. Mama was helping Dewey then.
Jenkins: But she was still in the kitchen? )

Baird: Yes. Then when we built this brick building, we added

another route and took in the downtown area with that
route. And then we had a retail shop on the corner of
this little building. And we talked to her and told

her we thought she had worked long enough and hard enough



Jenkins:

Baird:

Jenkins:

Baird:

Jenkins:

Baird:

Jenkins:

Jenkins:

Baird:

Jenkins:

21

that she ought to let us take care of it now. And we
had a little difficulty talking her into retiring, too.
This was about what year?

This was about 1920-21. She would work in the shop and
wait on the trade, and we decided that she didn't need
to work any longer. We built her a brick home out on,

) fﬂﬂMEDLJgf
well, it was called Stop 6. It was on the road to Hanley. '
We built a two story brick home, and we finally talked
her into retiring.

That was retiring from .

From work in the shop. She still was head of the business.
That is what I figured.

And then when we incorporated in 1926 she was Chairman
of the Board.

Did she operate mostly from her home or‘did she come
down to the business?

Well, she would come down to the plant quite often. And
when we would have meetings, she would sit in on the
meetings.

So she remained active.

Active in the business until 1959.

A1l right, let's go back and kind of pick up the growth.
In explaining when she got out of the kitchen you were
pretty well following the chronology of the business

there, so maybe we can just pick up there and kind of
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grow from there.
RoLma/y)
Well, Dewey and Rut}in and I at that time were really

Ran/D

running the business. Dewey and Rex+in were doing the
baking, and I was in charge of sales. And these two
routeswere operated by a salesman then.
You were no longer on a route?
No.
You had become sales manager.

ROLANRD
Yes. Dewey and Redrim were doing the baking and I was
looking after sale;. And this is the way we operated
for some time. ﬁ%%; building .tH&8% we built in 1919, and
wh opened in June of 1919. And by 1928 we had added to
that building nine times. We had added nine additiomns
to that one little building. And the last addition
that we added onto it was in 1928, which was the same
year that we built the plant in Dallas.
So you really were growing at that time.
Yes. We were kind of getting into a ten year cycle.
Notice in going through the progress of the business that
it seemed 1like it was every nine or ten years we made a
move. For example, we built the Fort Worth and Houston
plants and opened them in 1938, which was just ten years
from the time we opened the Dallas plant. And the

plant in Houston was, of course, a new plant. The Fort

Worth plant we built as a bread plant, and we operated
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the old plant as a cake plant, when we built the new
plant on Summit and Vickery.i-++ ' FE
Now it produced only bread products.

Yes.

And the other plant was for cakes.

..Bread; .rolls.;and~buns. And we produced cakes at the

plant on Sixth Avenue and Terrell until we built this

et IS /'{?(:!sﬁ w1
plant, the new plant here! In 1928 Rextin decided he

wanted to go to Dallas and build a new plant over there.
So we got together and each of us put up a proportionate
share of the cost of building the building in Dallas.

It was built on Bryan and Carroll, and we opened it in
1928.

Do you have a recollection of what kind of investment
was required for that plant?

Yes, I do. $175,000.

Did the financing come strictly from within?

Yes, from Mama and C. B. Baird, the younger brother was
then in the business--and we all put up so much money
apiece, and Mama put in her share, too.

Did you go outside aﬁd borrow?

I think we did. I think we borrowed some money from
Iiimeoin Life Insurance Company. I don't remember how
much, but I remember we paid it off pretty quick. We

borrowed it on the basis that we could pay it off
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within so many years.

Now I believe you mentioned that each time, for awhile,

that you started a new operation those became separate

corporations.

This is right. We incorporated Mrs. Baird's Bakery in

Fort Worth in 1926, and the officers and board of direc-

tors were Mrs. Baird, and D. C. Baird, and W. Hoyt Baird
YA Y _

and Rext*im Baird, and C. B. Baird. That was our board

of directors. Of the first corporation.

Which was Fort Worth.

Mrs. Baird's Bakery, yes, in Fort Worth.

And then you opened in Dallas.

In 1928 when we got ready to open in.Dallas, why, we in-

corporated Dallas as a separate corporation, Mrs.

Baird's Bread Company. And the same officers, with

Mama as Chairman of the Board. I believe Dewey was

president, and we were secretaries and treasurers. Just

the family were the officers, just members of the family.

And that was strictly a bread operation over in Dallas,

was it?

Yes. Yes, we made the cakes in Fort Worth, and any

cakes that we needed over there we would bake them in

Fort Worth. At that particular time we didn't operate

too much in the cake business, other than in Fort Worth

and the Fort Worth territory. And in meking Fort Worth,
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we also made what we called country territory. That

was the smaller towns outside of Fort Worth. And we
covered towns like Hillsboro and Waxahachie, Weatherford
and Decatur, Alvord and Bowie, and even into the Dallas
area. We covered that territory out of the Fort Worth
plant before we built the Dallas plant.

You, then, already had a substantial market before you
built down there?

No, just a few suburban areas of Dallas. Not Dallas
proper, no. No, it was a brand new market for us.
Rotdp

Redddm took charge of the Dallas plant.

Did that grow rapidly in Dallas?

Yes. We started adding on to it in a year or two after
we built it. Yes, it really met our expectations, maybe
a little bit more so.

Let's remember that we are kind of stopping here to
start with the Dallas plant, and come back to a little
early Fort Worth history. What was the baking industry
like in Fort Worth then? Were there considerable com-
mercial bakeries around?

Yes.

Who were some of the competitors?

There were three major bakeries. The three of them were
Walker, and his brand name was Big Dandy .

Big Dandy Bread.
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And he was a pretty good baker. He made a good loaf of
bread. And he was the newest baker, other than us. We
were small fry. We were bringing up the rear. We were
just growing.

All of these at the time were. . .

They had been in the business for some time.
Independent bakers, though.

Yes. Doherty was the second baker, I guess, and they
were over on South Main. And Waik;;h;;; downtowvm, and
he built a new plant. I just don't recall exactly
where. . . it was on Lamar and something. I forget

where it was. There used to be a street named North

Street, but he was just down in the southwest edge of

town.
But had he had his own .
He built a new building. He was a good operator, and

he made a good loaf of bread. Our business was growing

pretty fast at that time. Doherty was slipping. The
other baker was Bruno Reich, and they had a little shop
downtown. And they only made so many loaves of bread,
and they allocated so much bread to each store.

They kind of refused to grow, or what?

No, they Jjust didn't want to spend any more money to add
on to their plant. And, of course, they eventually went

out, as all of them did. Doherty went out and then



26

Walker sold out. Walker sold his business to a concern
named Quality Bakers of America, and he took stock. And
Quality Bakers of America at that time j&st finally went
bankrupt. I hated to see Mr. Walker suffer like he did
because he didn't get anything out of it.

Jenkins: Was that kind of the beginning then of the national bakers
to penetrate and to start getting into the territory?

Baird: Well, there were some bakers operating in other parts of
the country then that had more than one location, but we
didn't have one down here. I guess the first one we had
down here was Wonder.

Jenkins: When do you remember them first?

Baird: I don't remember too much about that. They operated in
Dallas. They weren't in Fort Worth at that time. They
still aren't. They operate routes over here, but they

don't have a plant. They have a plant in Dallas.

Jenkins: You said all of these early ones faded out.

Baird: Yes.

Jenkins: How do you account for that?

Baird: I can give you the answer to that, because that was one

thing that helped me to make up my mind what I was going
to do as far as the future was concerned. They didn't
build an organization, and when they got out of the pic-
ture the business went on the rocks.

Jenkins: You mean when the founders got out, there was simply
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no one to carry on.

Baird: They Jjust simply didn't organize the business so that
it could go ahead and operate after he passed out of the
picture. And that was one thing that helped convince
me that we needed to build an organization so that re-
gardless of what happened to any member of the family
that the business would carry on. And, of course,
there wasn't anything smart about that. That was just

a natural thing to do.

Jenkins: Well, but some didn't naturally do itfapparently.

Baird: Some of them didn't do it. That’s.;ight. Those three
didn't.

Jenkins: Were you becoming the predominant bakery?

Baird: We were growing pretty fast. And we had moved into

second place by that time to Walker, and we gradually
improved that situation pretty well.

Jenkins: By what time do you think you became the number one
bakery in Fort Worth?

Baird: Oh, in the middle 20's.

Jenkins: Oh, I see. So by the mid-twenties Mrs. Baird's Bread
had become the predominant bakery, number one anyway.

Baird: In Fort Worth.

Jenkins: In Fort Worth. Let's go back and reminisce a little
bit about what the towm of Fort Worth was like at the

time and how you saw it growing and what that growth
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was based on. Give us some recollections of Fort Worth
as Hoyt Baird was growing up.

Fort Worth didn't have a spectacular growth. It grew
rather steadily. I am thinking back in terms of popu-
lation around T0,000.

Your earliest recollection.

It wasn't that big when we got here, but the first time
I began to think about it as a city, the figure that I
have in mind was in the T0,000's.

What is your recollection about how big it was when you
came.

Well, it was pretty small because the downtown streets
weren't even paved.

Okay, that is some of the stuff I want.

And we had horse drawn streetcars.

Okay, that is what I want to get at. Yes, give us some

of those recollections and when the automobile first

started. Some of those early recollections.

Automobiles as I recall, some of them had a crank on

the side.

On the side?

Yes.

I don't remember that. That is a new one on me.

Yes, they sure did. I remember one brand name of an

automobile, something like Schadt. If I am not mistaken
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it cranked on the side.
I have never heard of that.
I think the first Ford cranked in the front. I remember
the first Fords that came out, of course. I believe
that the first bread wagon that we had, the truck, is
either Chevrolet or Ford. I have forgot which it was
now. And then later as we began to expand we went in-
to Dodges. We still operate a lot of Dodge trucks.
50 you had unpaved streets in downtown Fort Worth.
Yes.
Horse drawn streetcars, and everything was predominantly
horse drawn.
They had popcorn machines.
Yes, tell us about popcorn machines.
Well, one of my Dad's first ventures in Fort Worth was
a popcorn machine on Seventh and Main. And the popcorn
machine, as I remember it was quite a machine. It was
all polished, you know, brass. You had to polish that
to keep it shined, and it had a little clown on top of
it.
It was really fancy then.

e
It gi@b?d a whistle, you know, and he popped the popcorn
in the machine right there on the street.

And he could move that thing around.

Yes. T think a little later he got another machine and
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let Dewey operate it. It was downtown.

And it probably was a money maker, too.

Well, he made money at whatever he went into and then
he would sell it.

He was a starter then.

Yes, he would buy these little restaurants. He would
fix them up and build up the trade and then he would
sell it. And then he would go to Galveston for a couple
of weeks, and then he would come back and start looking
for another little restaurant to buy.

Well, we talked some about your mother. Are there tales
that you would like to spin about your dad?

Well, I think he was Jjust uncanny the way he could buy
these little old restaurants and build them up and sell
them.

His interest was in turning it over, improving it and
turning it over.

He just didn't stay with it. That was a difference
between him and Mama. Mama was pretty steady, and if
she could get hold of a dollar she could save about 90¢
of it.

Well, did he get into any other ventures. You said he
had popcorn machines, he was in the cafe business. He

had a bakery. Do you remember any other ventures?
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Oh, yes. He would make pies down at the Sanitary Res-
taurant, nickel pies, and he and Dewey would haul them
out to the northside to the packing houses out there
and sell them. I remember one time we had an exhibi-
tion out behind where Montgomery Ward is now on Seventh
Street. They had a race track back behind there. And
they were going to have a rail collision. Two engines.
They built a track in this little racé track. They had
a little stadium there, and they put these engines at
each end and turned them loose and they ran together.
And T remember that Péééé-took me with him out there,
and he made sandwiches, and we sold sandwiches out there
for this exhibition, the train wreck.

Were you there when it wrecked?

Yes, I remember because I had on a brand new pink silk
tie. And when they turned those engines loose I

Jumped up on something and tried to climb the fence so
that I could get up_ﬁhere and watch it. And I did see.
I saw it and I pﬁiiea my tie on a nail.

Well, what is your recollection of the train wreck?
They ran together.

I know, but were there explosions and all this?

No , just a lot of steam.

I am recalling, I think it was in one of Ben Green's

books. Are you familiar with Ben Green, an old
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No.

Anyway, somewhere someone described such an event down
in maybe the Big Bend country, and they said when those
things went together it just exploded and really did
severe damage.

These didn't go very far. They didn't get up too much
steam or too much speed.

But sold lots of cakes, I guess.

He made sandwiches and things like that. He didn't

stay with any of these things too long. His health was
bad and he died in 1911.

Oh, well about how o0ld was he?

bhs,

Is that right. Just a young fellow then.

Well, he had diabetes and they didn't have much cure for
that in those days. That is what got him, I think.

Any other recollections of early Fort Worth that you can
help us with?

Well, Seventh and Main at that time and for years to come
was kind of the hub of downtown business. I can remember
Burton and;ﬁeel’s Drygood:Store was on the corner of
Seventh and Main, and they were on the south side of
Seventh. And I remember the Fort Worth National Bank

built a skyscraper on the corner of Seventh and Main.
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I don't remember what the Business is now called. At
one time Continental Insurance Company had the building,
bought-<#t. And then the Fort Worth National Bank built
on the south side of Seventh and Main. On the south
side of Seventh.

About what year, time was this?

Well, oh, this was back in, I guess, 1939 or 'L0, some-
where along in there.

Oh, coming out of the depression then. And banking was
beginning to flourish at about that time.

There was a bank on the corner of Seventh and Houston,
and there was a bank called the Farmers Mechanic, and I
think they were on Seventh and Houston. And later the
First National Bank built on Seventh and Houston along
about the time the Fort Worth National was on Seventh
and Main. And then the Fort Worth National just moved
across the street, south, with a new building and I was
on the board of the Fort Worth National Bank at that time.
And then they built their new building where they are now
over on the Throckmorton Street area.

Now you personally came to Fort Worth in what year?
1901.

1901, and you were about four years old at the time.
What is your recollection of lighting and heating and

such as that at that time in Fort Worth? You had the
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artificial gas you said.

Baird: Wot then. That came a little later.
Jenkins: Okay .
Baird: Yes, I think the gas company was called Fort Worth Gas

Company, and they were down on Commerce Street. Their
offices were somevhere between Seventh or Eighth or
Ninth or along in there. And prior to that time, why,
we used wood.

Jenkins: In Fort Worth?

Baird: Yes. And we used wood, of course, in baking in our first
little bakery on Washington. We used wood.

Jenkins: That is what I was thinking. But you got gas not too
long after that.

Baird: We had gas then. But we used wood, cord wood. You build
a big fire box in a brick oven, and you build your fire
in the fire box to heat the oven, and then you take
the coals out.

Jenkins: Okay, let me see if I have got it then. ©She started
baking in her own home oven which was gas.

Baird: Yes.

Jenkins: But when she started baking in the peel ovens. . . is
that\what we call it?

Baird: Yes, that was after the move on Washington.

Jenkins: Then you used wood in those.

Bairad:l Yes.
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Okay, I have got it straight now. So wood was the fuel
in the backyard oven.

Yes. Then when we built the building on Sixth Avenue
and Terrell that was a gas-fired oven, and then we had
natural gas.

What about lighting?

Well, T don't remember. I remember that you didn't have
too much light. You had electricity, but your light
bulbs didn't put out a whole lot of light.

But there was electricity. In your earliest recollection
Fort Worth already had it.

Yes.

Did you keep kerosene lamps also?

Yes. We used kerosene lamps quite a bit. It was pretty
small when we first got here.

Yes, I expect it was.

I have seen it grow. It has had a pretty steady growth.
It grew from 75,000 imto 90,000 into 120,000.

And when you came here and for a long time after that, I
guess, the stockyards was the principal industry of Fort
Worth.

Yes, stockyards and railroads. Fort Worth at one time
was the largest railroad center in the southwest. Maybe
Kansas City or Chicago were the only ones ahead of them.

If I am not mistaken we had 1T trunk lines into Fort

Worth.
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So Fort Worth I wvaguely recall, had railroads before and
outstripped Dallas considerably.

Oh, yes.

Are there any other things about early Fort Worth, before
we go pick up at the Dallas plant and grow from there,
that you want to record?

Well, of course, from a sports angle Fort Worth had base-
ball teams that were home owned, and at one time I think
Fort Worth won the Texas League pennant six consecutive
years. And each year after the Texas League season was
over and the Southern League Association was over they
would have a post-season series. And Amon Carter, the
publisher of the Star Telegram at that time, would get

up this special train and we would go to Memphis or Mobile
or whatever the southern towm it was and we would play
them a five-game series.

Now this is how far back, if you can recall?

Oh, I would have to guess.

When you were a kid?

Well, no, I was grown. Well, I went on some of the trips.
I mean do you recall that they had this team “%though even
when you were a kid.or not?

Yes.

What was the name of that Fort Worth team? I used to know,

but I .
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The Fort Worth Cats.

Yes, right.

Panthers. TFort Worth was known as Panther City at one
time.

Why was that?

Oh, they found a panther down on Main Street, I think, or
something.

I see. So that is where they got the cats. I do remember
the Fort Worth Cats vaguely, for some strange reason.
Jakey Atgé was manager of the Cats when'ﬁﬁgf won the =~
six consecutive titles. And Pauléd}a;f%aé“head of the
baseball club, and W. é: Stripling,‘J?;

0f Striplings?

Yes, the Stripling family.

Oh, I see.

W. K. Stripling was president of the Fort Worth base-
ball club. And that was quite an event. Well, when

we lived on Hemphill, you remember they had a fire in
Fort Worth back in about 1905, 1908, somewhere along in
there that started not too far from where we lived on
Hemphill. And it destroyed a lot of residences in the
area from South Main over to Jennings Avenue., I remem-
ber the Broadway Baptist Church and Broadway Presby-
terian Church on Broadway between South Main and Jennings

Avenue were destroyed. And the only thing that stopped
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it from going farther was the T. P. reservation where

Frank Kent Motor Company is?

Yeah.

Across from there was the T & P Depot. The T & P Depot
is there now. The 0ld T & P Depot was destroyed by

fire. That was after we moved here.

Was that just started by a single residence fire, or

do you remember how that started?

They think somebody started it. I knew the boy that

they said started it.

But it was a major Chicago-fire type thing.

Yes, it was. It sure was. It covered a lot of territory.
Are there any other events of that era that you recall
that you would like to record for us?

I remember we used to chase rabbits with greyhounds where
T. C. U. 1is. I\g£;§ lived about two or three blocks from

T. C. U. And that was all just open land at that time.

Where Forest Park is.

Forest Park was there then?

No.
Where it is now.

Yes. We used to go swimming there in the river and chase
rabbits and hunt.
The river was clean then, I suppose.

Yes, it was wild. All that was wild.country out there.
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Jenkins: Anything else about those early years before we pick
up at the Dallas plant and kind of grow from there then.

Baird: We had rather rapid growth in Dallas. Then in 1936-37
we began to talk about expanding to Houston. And we
decided that we would go down there and build a plant in
Houston. Houston was growing at that time and is still
growing. We got Dewey to move to Houston. We wanted a
Baird in each town that we built a plant in to carry on
the tradition of the Baird family. So we opened that
plant in May of 1938. In the meantime, after we decided
to build in Houston, I brought up the idea that I thought
we were maybe overlooking something not having a new
plant in Fort Worth. This is where we started, and this
was where we were growing from. I thought we were neglect-
ing our own backyard. 8o we got kind of wild and de-

cided that we would build two of them the same year.

Jenkins: Houston and Fort Worth.

Baird: Yes.

Jenkins: How did you finance those?

Baird: We borrowed a little money from Capital Life Insurance

Company in Denver, Colorado. I think we borrowed «i—
$100,000. A long term loan with the option of paying it
off. And we paid it off. And we did the same thing in

Fort Worth.

Jenkins: About how long do you recll that you took to pay it off?
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Within five years.
Is that right?

Yes.

You just never really got tied up in long term debt?

Our business grew so fast, and of course in those days
you didn't have all the things to worry with that you
have today, government regulations and othe? things that
slow you down.

In those earliest days you didn't have to pay much atten-
tion, did you have even local regulations concerning baking
when you first started?

No, very little.

Do you recall when you had to start paying some attention
to local or state or federal regulations?

Ho, I don't remember exactly the year. I think maybe
when government regulations started, more or less back

in Franklin D. Roosevelt's era.

You became conscious of having to

Well, we got into a prétty severe panic, you know, when
he was president . . . before he was president. Ke had
to make some pretty drastic moves, and I think some of
them were good.

I have a special time where I ask you to go and reminisce
about the depression as a depression, but right now we

will pick up again at the growth into Houston and the
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growth in the expansion here - tell me again what year.
1938.

Okay. ©So we are getting toward the tailend of the de-
pression then, I suppose.

Yes, we opened the Houston plant in May of 1938 and then
we opened the Fort Worth plant in July of 1938. And the
Houston plant business grew rapidly. In less than a
year's time we added on to that.

Now were you in that market before you built?

No.

That was a brand new market.

Yes, that's right.

You weren't delivering at all into there.

Dallas was a brand new market.

When you went in over there?

Yes.

What was it like getting into, breaking into that market?
Did you have any unusual problems?

No, we had some good bakery operators in there, and we
Just grew faster than we really expected to. We had &
good loaf of bread.

Now at those times there wasn't much in the way of chain
stores. Mostly what you were delivering to I suppose

were. . . .

You had more independents then than you did chains. yes.
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And you didn't have much trouble getting into any of

those, as a new bakery.

No, we didn't. I remember distinctly when we had open~
house in Houston. The people turned out to see the

new plant, and people would come through there and we would
mill around and get mixed with the crowd, and amazingly
people would say, "I sure am glad you all are down here."
And they would say, "We used your bread in Fort Worth,"

or "we used your bread in Dallas." And they said, "We

sure are glad to see you down here."

And, you know, it
made you feel pretty good. That you were well accepted.
Known and accepted.

Yes.

Who were your major competitors in those markets as you
moved into them?

Well, at that time it wasiFair Baking Company, and that
is now what is Campbell-Taggert.

When you moved into Dallas?

No they were not there.

Who were your major competitors when you started in
Dallas?

Oh, local operators.

Just local.

Schepps, the Schepps family.

Oh, they were in the baking business.
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Yes.

The milk folks?

Julius Schepp and George Schepp.

What was their brand of bread? Do you remember?

Oh, T think they had Butternut or sometHing like that.

Oh, yes, I remember Butternut.

LA
AN e il

And Gléﬁarng there used to be a Cleburrébakery over

there.

Did they have a different brand?

Tes.

Do you remember what it was?

No, I don't. It might have been them that had the
Butternut and Buttercrust. Those were franchise names.
You could buy that name from companies that owned a
name.

Oh, I see.

Adolphus Bakery owned by Natheson, I believe, Natheson
family. And American Bakeries bought out Schepps about
the time we built the plant in Dallas. At that time it
was Purity Bakeries.

Yes, I remember Purity Bakeries. I kind of grew up
around Dallas.

Out of Chicago. And they had bought a bunch of plants
over in the southeast and they changedﬁ%he nameg of the

American Bakeries. Their brand name was Tastee.

T YSTIZE
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Oh, that is the origin of Tastee. rity?

Yes. When we announced that we were going to build a
piant in Dallas, George Schepy§announced that they were
going to build a plant in Fort Worth. And that is the
fggigg%%%ant. Well, they still operate, but all they
are selling is just private labels, I think.

So were Wonder and Tastee bothjthough they were kind of
national brands at that time?

Yes.

Whatxgbout Houston? What were your major competitors?
?éi;:éaking Company and Schott. The local independent
operators are still there.

What brands?

Sunbeam.

Oh, okay.

&8 LiAaN
And Geldmar was a competitor in Dallas, too.

mam—

T remember Gol¢man. Was Golfman their brand or did they
have a .

They had Sunbeam.

Sunbeam. I remember Gol@man.

At one time it was Gol@man. There were two Goldmans.
There was Julius Goldman and . . . I don't know why I
can't think of the other guy's name. I knew him better

than I did any of them. Jake.

Jake Gol@man.
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Yes, Jake Golfiman. —
Did you eventually become the predominant brand in those
two cities?

Yes.

About how long did it take you? Do you remember?

Oh, I would say it took us a few years.

into each one of

But you grew steadily after you went

Both of them, yes.

Let's go back now and kind of look specifically at the
depression of the 1930's and see what the Baird Company
was going through, but also kind of get you to kind of
view the community as you saw it and the problems of that era.
So graze the depression for us, both in terms of the com-
pany and as you saw the community. What was happening to
growth of the company during the depression? Was it
pretty steadily upward?

Well, I will tell you, the baking business would be one
business that would be affected less. As a matter of

fact, sometimes during the depression the bread business

is better.

Why is that?

Well, it is a good product, and it is a good buy for your
money .

Cheaper than you could make it at home.

Yes. I mean the bread price is, of course, like every-

thing else nog:it is high. Higher than we would like to
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see it. We don't ever raise the price of our bread un-
less we just have to. But people will eat foods that
don't cost them as much and has the nutrition. And, you
know, you can eat two or three slices of bread with a
meal, and if you want to eat three or four slices you
don't have to eat much else. Bread is filling and your
system handles it well. And so depressions really don't
affect the baking business from the standpoint of volume.
Your prices may be low, everything else is. But the demand
for bread holds up pretty well.

Jenkins: So you actually were doing some of your biggest growth,

weren't you during the depression?

Baird: Yes. We continued to grow.
Jenkins: You opened in Dallas during the depression.
Baird: It was '29 when it hit. So, yes, we were growing during

the depression.

Jenkins: Dallas was opened in what year?®

Baird: 128.

Jenkins: That was just before it really .

Baird: Just before it hit the bottom. '29 was the panic.

Jenkins: And you were growing here and there all during the de-
pression.

Baird: Yes.

Jenkins: And consequently in '38 before it was all over you opened

in Houston.
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Yes.

So you were really experiencing growth during that time.
I will later, in a summary, get how the number of em-
vloyees Wéﬁe growing. We will just kind of graze on that.
What about the community as you saw it during the de-
pression? Kind of give us some of your recollections

of how Fort Worth was faring during the depression, the
people, your employees, just how Fort Worth weatheree
the depression.

I don't have any specific recollection of how it affected
Fort Worth. It was tough going. Business was just
rock bottom. And things were pretty tough. President
Roosevelt closed the banks, and we had a little problem
with people wanting to give you a check to pay their
bills. And I remember distinctly that we held a meeting
and we made a decision to take our customers' checks.

I am talking about the groceriés. They were having a
hard time getting money, and it was a pretty important
decision. But we had to make one, and we took the bull
by the horns and went with it.

How did it turn out?

It turned out good.

Is that right?

Yes. We made the right decision, because the banks re-

opened and the checks were good and we didn't lose any
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money on it. And we made a heck of a lot of good friends.
I bet you did.

We took a chance. .

Well, there must have been other companies that made the
decision not to take them.

A lot of them, not necessarily barkers, but there were a
lot of companies that didn't take them.

But you.came out well. Do you have any notion that you
lost an appreciable amount over that decision, checks
that didn't come through, or were most of them good.
They were good, yes.

No more than usual.

Mo, we didn't lose enough to amount to anything.

Is that right?

Yes.

On what was that decision made? What did you all talk
about? How did you come to that decision?

Well, if you are in business, you have got three factors
in your business. The first, of course, is the consumer.
And when you operate a business you are going to have to
made up your mind you are going to have to take care of
that consumer or you are not going to be in business very
long. Then your method of distribution to the consumer
is the grocer. Then your next consideration is your

employees. Now I don't rank them in that order, but they
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are the three dominant factors, and important factors

in the operation of a business and the success of a business.
So we had customers who were in tight circumstances and
difficulty. And we had to think of it in terms of what

our customer needs. And our decision in the thing was
influenced by the fact that these customers were good
customers of ours and they had been nice to us in giving

us an opbortunity to serve them, and we felt like that

we ought to do everything that we could to help them

out in a tight situation.

Jenkins: Was it a blanket decision or were you selective in the
ones that you . . ?

Raird: Oh, we made a blanket decision, yes.

Jenkins: Take it from everyone.

Baird: This is one of the things that we do in operating our

business. We try to be fair to all of our accounts.
And we have a pretty good reputation in the business
world with our customers. All of them. Of course, Lo-—
day you have more supermarkets than you do independents,
but we stand pretty well. In other words we have the
confidence of the people we do business with. We have
the confidence of the people in the community in which
we operate.

Jenkins: The Baird Corporation during the depression, then,
didn't suffer a problem of financing to keep operating

like some did. You pretty well operated on cash flow.
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The bakery business ig pretty much a cash business. It
is on a two-week to thirty-day basis. But financing
isn't a problem with the baking industry too much, unless
you are expanding. And then you have to spend a lot of
money at one time.

Then your impression of Forth Worth at the time . . . we
have the stories of soup kitchens and bread lines and
all of those things. Did you see much of that?

We had them, yes. The business of Fort Worth survived
pretty well because most of the large institutiouns in
Fort Worth at that time were home owned by solid respon-
sible, local people. And we had several good banks.

The three major banks in Fort Worth were the Fort Worth
National, the First National, and the Continental
National. And everything was pretty well taken care of.
I don't recall any businesses in Fort Worth of any size
or stature that went under.

So Fort Worth, all in all, came through the depression
pretty well.

Yes, they did.

Well, let's pick up growth again. We did Houston, and
you expanded here in Fort Worth. Let's kind of pick up
chronologically there and see how expansion went from
here, then. What, '38, I believe you picked up and you

were saying that the next expansion was where and when?
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In Abilene, in 1949.

What were the factors involved in deciding to go out
there?

Well, out of the Fort Worth plant we were making the
territory, everything between here and Abilene, and we
had gone into Abilene with four or five routes. And
Abilene was just a little bit far. When you get out

150 or 160 miles you are getting just a little bit too
far to be able to handle it as you want to handle it and
have your bread as fresh as you want it, and economically
sound. And we had to have more capacity in the Fort
Worth plant because we had reached capacity, and so we
discussed the Abilene situation and took a pretty good
look at it. And we had enough business to start off
with a pretty good production poundage by taking it off
of Fort Worth. And then that would relieve Fort Worth

in order to take care of our business as we were growing
here. ©So we opened the Abllene plant with a gooe per-
centage of poundage on the Fort Worth plant taken off
and put into Abilene. And we felt like west Texas would
grow. Abilene would grow some, but Abilene wouldn't

be large enough to handle a plant the size that we built-
in there. We covered everything on west to Monahans

out of Abilene.
Out of Abilene?
Yes. And south and southwest to San Angelo, back this

way to Ranger. We were making all of that territory



52

except we didn't go past Abilene. We wére making all
the territory between here and Abilene, then north and
northwest of here out of the Fort Worth plant.
Jenkins: How far north did you start operating out of Abilene?
Baird: Well, we went into Olney and Breckenridge and up as far
as Aspermont, about 60 miles north of Abilene.
Jenkins: Now this was a separate corporation, Dallas ﬁas a separate

corporation. Was Houston a separate corporation?

Baird: Yes.
Jenkins: How about Abilene?
Baird: No, what we did then .that was when we merged the‘f .

Mrs. Baird's Baking Company was the Houston Corporation.
Mrs. Baird's Bread Company was the Dallas Corporation.

So we merged the three corporations into one corporation,
Mrs. Baird's Baker&ijlnc.

Jenkins: Why did you decide to do that?

Baird: Well, the main reason we decided to do it because in
order to build a new plant we individually took our own
money, the five of us, four boys and Mama, and in order
for us to have the money we had to declare it out in
dividends. So you had a tax situation, and it was pretty
hard to accumulate enough money. It was getting a little
bit more expensive to build a building. .For- éxampie,

~wheri we built the Fort'WorthAﬁiant. When we built the

Dallas plant we put $175,000 in it in '28. Ten years
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later we built a plant with approximately the same pro-
duction capacity and the same kind of a building. Our
buildings were pretty good buildings. We don't build
any ramshack building, we build pretty good buildings.
Now you said $175,000 total for the Dallas plant.

Yes. That included some cash to operate on. Houston,
we put $250,000 into it. And Fort Worth we put $250,000
into it. Production capacity was comparable to the
Dallas plant. So this is how much inflation that you
get. It cost that much more to go into business.

And the Abilene plant then?

The abilene plant $1,000,000.

About the same size again?

Yes.

And ten years later.

This is ten years later. Today to build a plant like
that it would cost you $8,000,000. And this is why you
don't see many people bullding new bakeries. We are the
only ones who haven't got enough sense to stay put, I
guess.

So it was in 'h9 that you incorporated all of them.
Yes.

Let's grow on from Abilene then.

Well, the next expansion was 1959.

Ten more years.

A ten year cycle. We purchased'the Lubbock plant from,
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I believe their brand name was Holsum. And also at the
same time we purchased a plant at Victoria the same year.

And their brand name was Holsum.

Jenkins: Was that the end of Holsum?

Baird: No, not necessarily. We kept the name on Holsum for =
good while.

Jenkins: Did you buy their plant or didlygu bgy.the;;fgorporatioh?

Baird: ?ﬁ;iwwe Jast bought their{i;ﬂgaﬁaigoﬂ})mh‘ | L

Jenkins: But you kept the Holsum brand?

Baird: Yes, for a year or two.

Jenkins: And then dropped it?

Bgird: Yes. We gradually changed over. You start making Holsum

a little smaller and Mrs. Baird's a little bigger.

Jenkins: But that was the end of Holsum.

Baird: In that market, yes.

Jenkins: But they continued?

Baird: Well, the Holsum brand name is used all over the country.
Jenkins: I see. Bo you just bought out those two operations.
Baird: Yes, and of course we still have the Holsum name if we

want to use it there.

Jenkins:. But there still is a separate Holsum corporation today,
is there?
Baird: No, it is a brand name. It is owned by W. E. Long Company.

They will sell you the services and the name Holsum to

use.
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Okay. So these were two companies using the name, and
you bought

They were owned by different individuals.

And so that put you into two new locations.

Yes. That was getting pretty far north and west, and
pretty far south in Victoria.

How about the financing of those?

Well, we just bought those and paid for them.

Cash flow. Didn't go into debt on those?

No.

Now, you really are scattered all over the state of
Texas by now. What proportion of the state of Texas
are you convering then by 'SQHafter you got those?
Well, I can probably give y;; a little bit better example
as of now.

Okay.

In 1960 we bought Waco and Austin. These, too, were
Holsum plants, and they were owned by the same man. ©Go
he approached us and wanted to sell us Austin. ©So I
asked him, "How about the Waco plant?" He was tickled to
death when I said that because we had more business in
Waco than he did. ©So we needed the production capacity
down there. And Austin was a new market. We made Waco
and all the surrounding territory out of Fort Worth.

But you weren't going into Austin at that time?
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No, that was too far. So Austin was a new market for us.
Now, was that just an outright purchase?

Yes.

Ho debt?

No. Well, we accumulate some reserves in order to take
advantage of the opportunity when it presents itself.
You can't hold back too much cash unless you have got a
program that you are going-to use it for, because you
are subject to a little extra tax on it by the revenue
service.

Was Houston, then, the last one that you had to borrow
money on. The rest of them you were reaching out

We didn't have to borrow it. We did borrow it, yes.
You don't want to be borrowing money Jjust on short term.
Now this plant, we borrowed money. We borrowed short
term. We were a little more solid. When we were ex-
panding into a different market, a new market, you want
to be sure that you can weather the storm in case a
storm develops.

So by '60 you were into the Austin area.

Yes. I would say that we probably, out of all of our

plants we probably serve three-fourths of the people of

Texas.
Presently.

Yes.

Now after '60 what kind of expansion did you continue.
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Well now, we missed one in here.

Okay .

In '53 the Dallas plant.

Another Dallas plant?

Yes.

Another plant or an expansion?

No, we-s0ld the old- plant and-built-a new:.one. We built
a new one and sold the old one.

Which is now the present plant?

Yes, on Mockingbird and Central. That was the iargest
one we built. At that time it was said that it was the

largest completely automatic bread operation in the

country.

Oh, in the whole United States.

Yes. Yes. It was a real nice plant.

What had been happening to the machinery of baking?

Well, it was gradually becoming more and more automated.

You started off in that kitchen .

Yes, by hand. Everything was by hand.

Bven the wrapping of the bread was by hand.

That's right.

Now when did you first start labeling, putting a Mrs.
Baird's label on bread?

In 1919.

Starting wrapping it with a brand on it.
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Yes, we wrapped it by hand, with a hand machine. You
put the loaf of bread down and pulled the wax wrapper

up around it and then run it through a hot plate

Oh, sealer.

And it had a couple of wings on it that would take and
fold in on the wrapper on each end of the loaf. And the
hot plate, it would melt that wax on the hot plate and
seal after you took it off the hot plate.

Was that kind of the first machine handling of the pro-
duct? That sealing operation?

Well, of course originally to start off with you mixed
bread by hand in a trough. And then I guess your first
automatic operation, machine operation, came in a mixer.
Okay. Do you have any idea when you first started using
a mixer?

Yes. We started using a mixer phtxofiﬁashingtopﬁin, I
would say about 1914 probably.

Did you buy a mixer or make a mixer?

No, we bought it. And they gradually improved those to
where you got better and faster mixing. When they first
started building mixers they operated pretty.slowly,

and now they are pretty fast. You can mix the dough in
six or seven minutes.

And the ingredients are fed in automatically now.

Yes.

And not a whole lot of hand work done.



Baird: Very little. Very little hand work.

Jenkins: Okay, let's see now. We got the Dallas '53 thrown in,
and then we are down in Austin, I believe. Was that the
last expansion?

Baird: No, Dallas was the last one until thiéf‘hAustin and Waco
we bought in '60. ZLubbock and Victoria we bought in '59.

And we built a new plant in Dallas.

Jenkins: In?
Baird: In 1953.
Jenkins: Okay. $So after Austin were there further expansions

after that?

Baird: Well after we built the plant in Dallas, the next plant
we bought was a pie plant in Abilene. Fried pies.

Jenkins: Whose was that? You bought one out?.

Bairad: Yes. Well, we were buying about 40% or 50% of their pro-
duction. It was called Tip Top Pie Company. This man's
health got a little bad, and he wasn't doing too well,
and he had a good p%e. He had an excellent crust. He

NI A
had the best!d?ﬁSt;piepthat I know of. We were going
to have to get in the pie business because we were buy-

ing 40% of his production and selling it under his name,

Tip Top. And so we made a deal with him and bought him

out.
Jenkins: That was about what time?
Baird: In 1969. And then we kept his name on there until we

got the pie like we wanted it and then we changed the
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name to Mrs. Baird. In other words.we put fruit in it.

Jenkins: Oh, I see.

Baird: His crust was good.

Jenkins: It had great crust but he didn't put much in it.

Baird: Well, he put a little corn starch in it.

Jenkins: With sugar or something.

Baird: We took that out and put fruit in it.

Jenkins: Oh, I see.

Baird: Now we have an excellent fried pie. He haé g&th the finest

crust. You could eat the crust by itself. It tastes good.
Jenkins: You continued to use his formula on that then?
Baird: On his crust, yes. Well, we have improved it. But we
didn't put Mrs. Baird's name on it until we got the pie

quality that we wanted.

Jenkins: So by then you had a pie plant and a bread plant in
Abilene?

Baird: Yes. That's right, y=s.

Jenkins: Just bring us on up then with any further expansions to

today if you would.
Baird: Well, the next expansion was in 'Tl when we built the

cake plant heredi

Jenkins: Here on this location.
Baird: Yes.
Jenkins: Now that was in addition to .

Baird: Yes, we have-gét the breat plant on Summit and kaery and
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the cake plant.i- FET SR - o

Jenkins: But the cake plant was a new location entirely.

Rairad: Yes.

Jenkins: What brought about the decision for that?

Baird: We were using the plant on Sixth Avenue and Terrell for

the cake plant, and it just became an inefficient opera-
tion. We just added on to it so many times, and it was
Just practically worn out. And the cake business was
growing, and we weren't able to take care of the business
that was available to us. ©So we decided to build a cake
plant and move our offices out here. We were short on
space at the bread plant, too. And we were going to

have to add on the bread plant, and there wasn't any way
that we could add on to the bread plant and take care of
it efficiently. So we decided that we would take that
money and put it into this and Jwst build a new cake plant
and then move part of our production from the bread plant

out here in the way of buns.

Jenkins: Oh, okay.

Bairad: Along with the cake lines.

Jenkins: A1l of that expansion, did that continue to be internal
funds?

Baird: Yes. We borrowed money in building this out here. But

we were in a position to borrow on short term loans and

pay it off as we went along.
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I see. Pretty fast.

Well, we paid it off in several years.

Any further expansion.just kind of bringing us up to
1980, really, is what we will do.

The last expansion we bought a plant in San Antonio.

When was that?

1976.

How did that come about?

Well, a plant became available there, and San Antonio is
a big market.

Had you been in that market?

No.

Another new market then. Now what plant was it that be-
came available? How did that come about?

It was a Sunbeam plant. The fellow that bought it wasn't
doing any good with it, and he wanted to get out of it,
so we bought it.

Now, was Sunbeam a franchise brand.

Yes.

So that didn't do away with the Sunbeam brand. It was
just like taking the Holsum.

Well, we owned it. We could use it.

But others still can use it. ILike Holsum.it is a brand.
Yes, we've got that market. That belongs to this Quality

Bakers of BAmerica , that I told you while ago that Walker
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sold out to and took stock and went broke. Reorganized
and today is a co-op, and they sell services to their
clients, to their customers, the bakeries.

Jenkins: Is this a Texas . . %

Baird: No, no that was in New York, I believe. They sell the
name Sunbeam, and they also sell any other services you
want ; bookkeeping, advertising, architecture, buy equip-
ment, ingredients. They do the whole job for you if
vou want to pay the fee.

Jenkins: Oh, I see. So, in 'T6 you got down to San Antone, and

you are in the major markets in Texas.

Baird: Yes.

Jenkins: You don't get to E1 Paso?

Bairad: No.

Jenkins: Okay. How far west?

Baird: Well, Monahans, that's as far as we get.

Jenkins: You serve Wichita Falls.

Baird: Yes. We have aplant in Lubbock. We serve Amarillo and

all the territory out there around Plainview, the pan-
handle and Amarillo, Borger, Dalhart . . . We go as far
north as Dumas, Perryton.

Jenkins: And north, from Wichita Falls, through Dallas, Gainesville,
Tyler, right on across.

Baird: Well, we make that out of Dallas.

Jenkins: And Fast Texas.
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Baird: Some of East Texas, Lufkin, we make out of Houston.
Jenkins: So you cover East Texas.

Baird: Yes.

Jenkins: About the only thing that you're not, I guess in, is in

that E1 Paso, that dip out there.
Baird: And the Rio Grande valley.
Jenkins: And there are not a whole lot of folks out there, except

in E1 Paso.

Baird: Yeah, there are in El Paso, ywesth. El Paso is a big town.
Jenkins: Do you have any visions of getting into E1 Paso?

Baird: No, we're not thinking about it.

Jenkins: But you said, now, you cover about what percentage?
BRaird: I said about three fourths.

Jenkins: Three fourths of the population of the State of Texas.
Raird: Yeah.

Jenkins: I believe it indicates, in the pamphlet, the "Mrs.

Baird's Storyfx that Mrs. Baird's bread is the largest
family owned bakery in the United States?

Baird: Yes.

Jenkins: Is anyone close in size in terms of family bakers that
you know of in the United States?

Baird: Not in this part of the country. Back in the northeast
there are one or two organizations back there, I think, that
would be close.

Jenkins: So most, an awful lot of the baking business, then, has
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been bought up through the big chains.

Yes.

Give us some idea of what ‘is happening in the bakery
business in terms of who owns them and the size. For
instance, to what extent is what we used to call the

"mom and pop" type operation still healthy?

There are not too many of the small, independent bakers
left. Most of those independent bakers belong to a co-
op situation like Quality Bakers or Sunbeam, W. E. Long
Company, which is Holsum. They belong to a co-op of some
kind, and they use the services of those companies to
whatever extent they feel they need them in their business.
Now, in addition to record keeping and information and

so on, do they also buy through those co-ops?

Yeah. To whatever extent they want to. They can have
them buy everything for them if they want to, if they
want it. And generally speaking they're pretty good
operators.

How do they survive as small independent operators? What
have they gdfgging for them?

Well, they're independent operators and they're local

and they're in markets where they're well established.
Most of their competition would be from national chains.
I think it is probably a good thing for an individual

to be associated with these co-ops because they can do
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some of the things for him that he's not an expert in,
and T think it's been helpful to them.

Jenkins: I know we have at least one in Denton who doesn't even
brand. Their primary retail outlet igzpeople walk in
and buy. Are there a good many of thé small independents
who still have branded products and ship them out, or are
most of them just the kind of l